ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Allendale County
Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BOBBY JONES, SR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001345

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ADAM SINCLAIR RUFFIN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
NOV 04 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the Court erred in granting the state's motion to quash the jury after it alleged Appellant used a peremptory strike in violation of Batson v. Kentucky when he struck a juror who identified her profession as being a "housewife" which was a facially race neutral reason and where the state was not required to show pretext by providing evidence that Appellant had seated another similarly situated juror?

2.

Whether the Court erred in qualifying Sitha Patel as an expert in the field of "child sexual abuse dynamics" when her training was limited to a one-week class at the Child First Law Center and a three-day class at MUSC, and where she admitted that she could not determine an error rate for her field and that her only quality control procedures were to follow the Child First protocol?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Allendale County Grand Jury for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. R 542-543. Appellant's jury trial was held before the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith from July 9, 2018 through July 12, 2018. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Glenn Walters and Michael Culler, and the state was represented by Rebekah Luttrell and Leigh Staggs. R. 2.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged and Judge Goldsmith sentenced him to twelve years imprisonment.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was a local bishop and the step-father of the alleged female victim (“Minor”) in this case. Appellant was married to Minor’s mother and the three of them lived together at the time of the allegations which gave rise to this case. Minor was fourteen years old at the time of the allegations in this case. R. 333, ll. 16 – 25.

As will be seen infra, the controversy in this case began when a substitute teacher overheard Minor talking to another student. On March 4, 2013, Minor was interviewed at her school by an “administrative team” which included the school principal, the school guidance counselor, the school nurse, and a substitute teacher. R. 210, ll. 12 – 23. Minor told them that she and Appellant “did it.” R. 211, l. 7. Minor was asked to elaborate and she wrote out two statements alleging that she and Appellant had sex. R. 211, ll. 7 – 20; R. p. 537-538 (State’s Ex. 1 and 2).

Again, the allegations came to light initially when Minor’s substitute teacher, Carolyn Chess (“Chess”), overheard Minor talking about the allegations with another student. R. 195, ll. 2 – 13. At trial, Chess recalled: “[Minor] was talking about it to some other kids. And I said, [Minor], discuss whatever you have to discuss with your mom. Don’t discuss that in here, I said, because [Appellant] is my family and I don’t want to hear it.”¹ R. 195, ll. 8 – 13. Chess stated that later that day Minor told her “it really happened.” R. 195, l. 25 – 196, l. 11. The following day Chess told the school guidance counselor, Pamala Kinard (“Kinard”), “what [Minor] said.” R. 197, ll. 10 – 15. Chess claimed that Minor handed her a piece of paper that said “he did that...he stick [sic] it in.” R. 198, 8 – 11.

¹ Chess said she was related to Appellant “by [her] grandma.” R. 200, ll. 13 – 16.

Chess threw the piece of paper away because she did not believe Appellant would have done what Minor claimed. R. 198, ll. 16 – 20. Chess testified that Minor maintained she had told her mom about the incident and her mom did not believe her. R. 200, ll. 2 – 9.

Chess took Minor to the school guidance counselor, Kinard, so that the allegations could be reported to her. R. 186, ll. 1 – 10. Kinard testified at trial that Minor told her she and Appellant had sex. R. 187, ll. 14 – 15. She further testified that she reported the allegations made by Minor to “those above [her].” R. 186, ll. 7 – 9.

Sheriff Tom Carter, the Sheriff of Allendale County, was called to the school and informed of the allegations against Appellant. R. 312, l. 21 – 313, l. 5. Sheriff Carter was shown Minor’s first statement and then he spoke directly to her. R. 313, ll. 10 – 20; R. p. 537 (State’s Ex. 1). Sheriff Carter told Minor that she needed to write a more detailed statement and then she proceeded to write a second statement which was ultimately introduced at trial. R. 314, ll. 20 – 21; R. p. 538-539 (State’s Ex. 2).

Sheriff Carter reported the allegations to DSS and they sent one of their caseworkers, Mary Carter (“Mary”), to the school.² R. 315, ll. 9 – 17. At that point a “collective” decision was made not to allow Minor to return home with Appellant even though he was normally the person who picked her up from school to take her home. R. 316, ll. 16 – 25. They also agreed that Sheriff Carter would be the one to inform Appellant of the situation when he arrived at the school to pick Minor up because Sheriff Carter personally knew Appellant. R. 317, ll. 3 – 8.

When Appellant showed up to the school that day to pick Minor up, Sheriff Carter took him into one of the offices in the school and informed him of the allegations that Minor made. R. 318, ll. 4 – 10. The Sheriff asked Appellant if he and Minor had been arguing and then the

² Mary Carter is of no relation to Sheriff Carter. R. 315, ll. 18 – 19.

Sheriff recalled that: “that’s when he proceeded to tell me...me and my wife was discussing about sex and boys with [Minor] because we discovered that she was using a magic marker, putting it in her vagina...and that we decided to get her...a vibrator and I taught her how to have sex...” R. 319, ll. 16 – 25.

Mary testified that when she arrived at the school on March 4, 2013 she interviewed Minor. R. 332, ll. 6 – 9. Mary claimed that Minor disclosed to her that she and Appellant had sex and also that Appellant showed her how to use a vibrator by putting the vibrator inside her vagina. R. 334, ll. 6 – 14. Mary also interviewed Appellant when he arrived at the school and after Sheriff Carter had spoken with him. R. 335, l. 24 – 336, l. 6. She claimed that Appellant told her that he “showed [Minor] how to use [the vibrator].” R. 336, ll. 9 – 10.

On March 13, 2013, a physical examination was performed on Minor by Nurse Practitioner Kristin Dalton (“Dalton”). R. 390, ll. 22 – 25. Dalton directly asked Minor to tell her “about the vibrator.” R. 392, ll. 20 – 21. She stated that Minor told her that her mother and Appellant had purchased the vibrator for her. R. 392, ll. 21 – 23. Dalton asked if the vibrator had been inside or outside of her vagina and Minor stated that it was inside her vagina. R. 392, 23 – 24. When Dalton asked who put the vibrator inside her vagina, Minor responded that she put the vibrator in herself. R. 392, l. 25. Minor also told Dalton that she had never had sex. R. 393, ll. 3 – 5.

Dalton completed her physical exam of Minor which was completely normal. R. 394, ll. 6 – 9. After the physical exam Dalton again asked Minor who put the vibrator inside of her vagina and Dalton claimed that Minor then maintained that she and Appellant both put the vibrator inside of her vagina. R. 394, ll. 1 – 5.

On March 26, 2013, Minor was interviewed by SLED Agent Richard Johnson (“Johnson”) at her school. R. 222, ll. 15 – 20. Johnson asked Minor a series of questions about the allegations she made against Appellant. R. 223, ll. 9 – 10. According to Johnson, Minor asked to write her own statement instead of answering his questions. R. 223, ll. 10 – 14. Johnson acquiesced in this procedure and she proceeded to handwrite a statement in which she stated that Appellant did not use a vibrator on her and that she only used it on herself. R. p. 540-541 (State’s Ex. 3). However, later in the same statement she wrote that Appellant did use the vibrator on her and that they “did it.” R. p. 540-541 (State’s Ex. 3).

Minor testified during the state’s case in chief and also in the defense’s case in chief. R. 127 – 171; R. 404 – 430. She testified that she only wrote the statements alleging that Appellant used a vibrator on her and had sex with her because she was pressured and intimidated. R. 159, ll. 2 – 4. Minor stated that she “would have wrote anything to get away from them,” referring to the “administrative team” that interviewed her at school on March 4, 2013. R. 159, ll. 4 – 5. Minor testified that Appellant “did not show [her] how to use a vibrator.” R. 164, ll. 10 – 14. She also testified that Appellant never touched her inappropriately or abused her at all. R. 164, l. 25 – 165, l. 4.

When the defense called Minor to the stand in their case in chief she again stated that Appellant never touched her with a vibrator or had sex with her or did anything improper with her. R. 411, l. 7 – 412, l. 9. She told the jury that she was using highlighters to satisfy her sexual desires and she told Appellant about that because he was a counselor and frequently helped young people with their problems. R. 405, ll. 4 – 8. She stated that as a result, she, her mom and Appellant all had a “conversation” about this and decided that she should have a vibrator. R. 405, ll. 9 – 10.

Minor wanted to have a boyfriend and be sexually active, but her parents would not allow it. R. 405, l. 25 – 406, l. 17. Minor told her friend N.S. that her parents bought her a vibrator and that she should get her parents to buy her one too. R. 410, ll. 12 – 17. After Minor told N.S. about her parents buying her a vibrator is when the untrue rumors started around the school. R. 411, ll. 4 – 6. Minor stated that after the rumors started she began lying about what happened because she resented her parents for the restrictions they put on her. R. 412, ll. 13 – 23.

Appellant also testified in his own defense. R. 431 – 457. Appellant adamantly denied ever touching Minor in any sexually improper way. R. 431, ll. 15 – 18. Appellant said that when Minor confided in him about her sexual desires he got her mother involved in the conversation because he felt that it was important for her mother to know what was going on. R. 437, l. 12 – 438, l. 2. Appellant acknowledged that he did not want Minor dating boys or having sex out of fear that she might get a sexually transmitted disease or become pregnant. R. 438, ll. 12 – 17.

Appellant, Minor and her mom all had a “conversation” as a family and decided that they would buy a vibrator for Minor to help her satisfy her sexual urges. R. 439, ll. 6 – 14. Minor’s mother was not willing to go to the store and purchase a vibrator so Appellant reluctantly agreed that he would go purchase one. R. 439, ll. 13 – 18. After the vibrator was purchased, Appellant recalled: “Minor came in the den and got it. And of course, we know what people do with vibrators. She was doing the same thing with magic markers and stuff, so we didn’t have to instruct her as to what to do. I mean, we was not showing her what to do, that’s ridiculous.” R. 439, l. 25 – 440, l. 5.

Appellant told the jury that he never told Sheriff Carter or Mary from DSS that he used a vibrator on Minor. R. 452, l. 24 – 453, l. 18.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court erred in granting the state's motion to quash the jury after it alleged Appellant used a peremptory strike in violation of *Batson v. Kentucky* because he struck a juror who identified her profession as being a "housewife" which was a facially race neutral reason and where the state was not required to show pretext by providing evidence that Appellant had seated another similarly situated juror.

Standard of Review

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Inman, 409 S.C. 19, 25, 760 S.E.2d 105, 108 (2014) (quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). "A court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous." Id. (internal quotation omitted). "On review, this Court is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion." State v. Edwards, 384 S.C. 504, 508, 682 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2009).

"In the typical appeal from the granting or denial of a Batson motion, the appellate courts give deference to the findings of the trial court and apply a clearly erroneous standard." State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 312, 631 S.E.2d 294, 297 (Ct. App. 2006). "This standard of review, however, is premised on the trial court following the mandated procedure for a Batson hearing." Id. "Here, where the assignment of error is the failure to follow the Batson hearing procedure, we must answer a question of law. When a question of law is presented, our standard of review is plenary." Id.

Relevant Facts

The first jury selection process at Appellant's trial resulted in a jury consisting of twelve black jurors, six of which were male and six of which were female. R. 31 – 40. Appellant is a black male. The state used five peremptory strikes. R. 32, l. 25 – 33, l. 5; R. 33, l. 20 – 34, l. 1; R. 34, ll. 12 – 16; R. 35, ll. 1 – 5; R. 38, ll. 9 – 13. All five of the state's strikes were of black jurors, four of which were female and one of which was a male. Id. Appellant used only five of his peremptory challenges. R. 36, ll. 3 – 9; R. 36, ll. 17 – 23; R. 36, l. 24 – 69, l. 11; R. 37, l. 20 – 70, l. 1; R. 38, ll. 2 – 8. All five of Appellant's strikes were female, two of which were black and three of which were white. Id.

Two alternate jurors were selected, both of whom were black females. R. 40, ll. 2 – 22. Appellant struck one black female alternate and the state struck one black female alternate. R. 39, ll. 8 – 14; R. 39, ll. 15 – 19.

After the jury was selected the state made a Batson³ challenge stating: “the Defense exercised six [including the alternate] of their strikes. Of those six, five were female, three of those were white ladies and they were the only Caucasian jurors called to be put on the jury.” R. 41, l. 22 – 42, l. 2.

Defense Counsel responded by going through each one of his strikes and giving his reason for each. Beginning with Juror No. 39 who was a white female, Defense Counsel stated “that young lady was employed at the Hampton school district, but she also stood up and stated that her sister had reported some type of sexual abuse.” R. 42, ll. 5 – 10.

³ Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

Appellant's second strike was Juror No. 166 who was a black female. Defense Counsel stated that he struck her because she "knew someone that served on the grand jury that indicted [Appellant]." R. 42, l. 25 – 43, l. 4.

Appellant's third strike was Juror No. 98 who was another black female. Defense Counsel stated that the reason for the strike was "[o]f course, that was the person that was employed in Allendale County school systems as a teacher." R. 43, ll. 8 – 12.

Appellant's fourth strike was Juror No. 113 who was a white female. Defense Counsel stated that he struck Juror No. 113 because she was a nurse at Allendale County Hospital and that they were planning to strike all nurses. R. 43, l. 13 – 44, l. 2.

Appellant's fifth strike was Juror No. 158 who was a white female. Defense Counsel struck this juror because she identified herself as a "housewife" which was an occupation that Appellant did not want represented on the jury pool. Defense Counsel also pointed out that the only other juror called who identified themselves as a "housewife" was struck during the selection of the alternate jurors. R. 44, ll. 4 – 10.

Defense Counsel summarized his strikes by stating:

[T]hose would be the race neutral issues with regard to the selection. It was based upon employment in this particular case, associated with someone that reported wrongdoing, and, of course...we have the teacher at Allendale, nurse at the hospital and a nurse will be testifying, just like we eliminate any police officer. And, of course, the last juror was associated with someone.

R. 44, l. 23 – 45, l. 8. The Court responded that it did not understand the rationale of striking the "housewife." R. 45, ll. 9 – 11. Defense Counsel stated that the defense's position was to strike all "housewives" and that both of the jurors who identified as such were struck. R. 45, ll. 12 – 20. Counsel argued that they look to the professions that people hold and in this particular case

they struck several jurors based on their professions including a nurse and a teacher as well. R. 45, ll. 21 – 23.

The state replied:

I still fail to understand...how striking all housewives is relevant to this...there's a wide variety of different caregivers and women that stay home and choose to work or don't choose to work or some are unemployed or what their nature is. I just don't believe that that's a sufficient race neutral explanation for striking that lady.

R. 46, ll. 7 – 16.

Defense Counsel proceeded to explain his view of a "housewife":

A housewife's approach for a case such as this is totally different from someone who's sitting at home as a caretaker or someone who's sitting at home because they're unemployed...A house wife employees [employs] a system of management and skills that keep a home running properly...It's not simply someone sitting around that is a caretaker. And of course, their approach to life and view of issues is totally different from someone else that's home that's unemployed or someone that's a caretaker...A housewife is someone who's employed, *who manages the household, who manages the budget, sees to the affairs of the family itself and may even end up being the leader of the family.*

R. 47, l. 2 – 48, l. 10 (emphasis added). Defense Counsel argued that this was a race neutral reason for the strike and therefore satisfied that requirement from Batson. Counsel argued: "[T]he skill set requirement of being a housewife, we do not believe would be in the best interest of our case. This is someone who makes decisive decisions, manages money, manages a household. Maybe that's someone we don't want on our jury." R. 49, ll. 15 – 20. Defense Counsel stated that he did not strike the juror based on her race but rather the skill set she has in being a "housewife." R. 49, l. 21 – 50, l. 2.

The state responded by arguing that Appellant was making a generalization about an entire group of people which was an insufficient reason for using a strike. R. 51, ll. 5 – 9. The

state argued: “[T]hey’re generalizing this term household. They’re applying it, first of all, housewives – they’re applying it specifically to women, but there’s no mention made of potentially men that might have the same occupation.” R. 51, ll. 10 – 15.

Defense Counsel immediately responded that a man or a woman can serve in the capacity as a “housewife” and that “the same decisions are required in order to manage a household.” R. 52, ll. 10 – 13. Counsel further pointed out that the term “housewife” was given by the potential juror herself, i.e. the potential juror identified herself as a “housewife” as being her profession. R. 52, ll. 13 – 19. “Housewife” was how the potential juror described herself. R. 52, ll. 20 – 25. Counsel reiterated that the term “housewife” defines an occupation and a specific job that a person does. R. 53, ll. 16 – 19.

The Court ruled for the state and granted its motion to quash the jury. R. 55, l. 18 – 56, l. 12.

The following day the parties selected a second jury. R. 58 – 68. The second jury consisted of nine black jurors and three white jurors; seven female jurors and five male jurors. R. 58 – 68. The state used three peremptory strikes, all of which were black females. R. 63, l. 25 – 96, l. 4; R. 65, ll. 3 – 7; R. 66, ll. 12 – 16. Appellant only used two peremptory strikes, one of which was a black female and the other of which was a white female. R. 63, ll. 11 – 17; R. 66, ll. 5 – 11. Juror No. 158, the juror who was struck the day before by Appellant based on her stated occupation as being a “housewife,” was seated on the second jury. R. 64, l. 21 – 65, l. 2.

Two alternate jurors were selected, both of whom were black females. R. 67, l. 18 – 68, l. 11. Appellant struck one alternate who was a white female and the state did not use any strikes on alternates. R. 67, ll. 9 – 16. Neither party made a motion with regards to the selection of the second jury. R. 68, ll. 12 – 17.

Discussion

The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits a party from using a peremptory strike on the basis of a prospective jurors' race. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). This principle applies to the state as well as to a defendant in a criminal case. Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42 (1992). It is immaterial whether the defendant and the prospective juror are the same or a different race. Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400 (1991).

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