ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ALLENDALE COUNTY
The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001345

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

BOBBY JONES, SR.,

Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843)-790-6283

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
OCT 21 2019
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ALLENDALE COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly granted the State's motion to quash the initial jury selected in Appellant's trial because Appellant's peremptory strikes were used in a racially and gender discriminatory manner.

Appellant argues the trial court erred by granting the State's motion to quash the initial jury selected pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky² because Appellant offered a race neutral reason for striking Juror No. 158. Additionally, Appellant contends the trial judge erred by not requiring the State to show Appellant's explanation for the strike was mere pretext by demonstrating that a similarly situated juror was also seated. Appellant's argument is without merit. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in quashing the initial jury selected in Appellant's trial because Appellant did not give a coherent race or gender neutral reason for striking Juror No. 158. Even if Appellant had articulated a race and gender neutral reason for striking Juror No. 158, Appellant's explanation for the strike was so implausible that it was mere pretext. Therefore, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in granting the State's Batson motion.

"The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits the striking of a venire person on the basis of race or gender." State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 615, 545 S.E.2d 805, 810 (2001). In criminal cases, both the State and the defendant are prohibited from striking jurors on the basis of race. Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42 (1992); Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). "[G]ender, like race, is an unconstitutional proxy for juror competence and impartiality." J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B., 511 U.S. 217, 129 (1994).

A trial judge should employ a three step analysis to determine whether a Batson violation has occurred. "First, the opponent of a peremptory challenge must make a prima facie showing

² Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

that the challenge was based on race.” State v. Giles, 407 S.C. 14, 18, 754 S.E.2d 261, 263 (2014). If a prima facie showing is made, the trial court must then require “the proponent of the challenge to provide a race neutral explanation for the challenge.” Id. “Once the proponent states a reason that is race-neutral, the burden is on the party challenging the strike to show the explanation is mere pretext, either by showing similarly situated members of another race were seated on the jury or that the reason given for the strike is so fundamentally implausible as to constitute mere pretext despite a lack of disparate treatment.” State v. Evins, 373 S.C. 404, 415, 645 S.E.2d 904, 909 (2007).

“Under some circumstances, the race-neutral explanation given by the proponent may be so fundamentally implausible that the judge may determine, at the third step of the analysis, that the explanation was mere pretext even without a showing of disparate treatment.” Payton v. Kears, 329 S.C. 51, 55, 495 S.E.2d 205, 208 (1998). “In the typical peremptory challenge inquiry, the decisive question will be whether counsel’s race-neutral explanation for a peremptory challenge should be believed.” Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 365 (1991). The best evidence of whether an explanation for a strike is believable “often will be the demeanor of the attorney who exercises the challenge.” Id. The evaluation of an attorney’s “state of mind based on demeanor and credibility lies ‘peculiarly within a trial judge’s province.’” Hernandez 500 U.S. at 365 (quoting Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 428 (1985)). “Once a discriminatory reason has been uncovered -- either inherent or pretextual -- this reason taints the entire jury selection procedure.” Kears 329 S.C. at 59.

Here the trial judge correctly quashed the initial jury selected because of racial discrimination and gender discrimination by Appellant in the selection of the jury. Because the

trial judge correctly quashed the jury based on two forms of discrimination by Appellant, it is instructive to address each form of discrimination individually.

Racial Discrimination

The first jury selected in Appellant's trial consisted of six black males and six black females. (R. 31-41). Appellant used a total of five strikes during the primary jury selection and an additional strike during selection of the alternates. Appellant used peremptory challenges on three white females and two black females. (R. 36-38). Appellant struck one black female during the selection of alternates. (R. 38). The State struck four black females and one black male during the primary jury selection and struck an additional black female during the alternate selection. (R. 33-35, 38). The only three white jurors called during the first jury selection were all stricken by Appellant. Accordingly, the initial jury selected consisted of jurors of only one race. Appellant's strike of Juror No. 158, a white female, is the subject of this appeal. (R. 38).

After the initial jury was selected, the State made a motion to quash the initial jury pursuant to Batson. The State's motion was made on the grounds of both racial and gender discrimination. (R. 41-42). The State noted that five of Appellant's six strikes were used on prospective female jurors and that Appellant struck all three prospective white jurors that were called. Appellant attempted to provide race neutral reasons for striking each white juror. Appellant explained that he struck Juror No. 39 because she was a teacher and her sister was a victim of sexual abuse. (R. 42). Appellant struck the second white juror, Juror No. 113, because she was a nurse and one of the State's witnesses was also a nurse. (R. 43). Appellant claimed he struck the final white juror, Juror No. 158, because she was a housewife. (R. 44). The trial judge accepted Appellant's explanations for each strike as being race neutral except for Appellant's

explanation for Juror No. 158. (R. 45). When the trial judge asked Appellant to clarify his reason for striking Juror No. 158, he offered the following explanation:

Yes, our position was that, we would strike all housewives. And the only housewife that's on the jury – that could potentially be on the jury was the lady that stood up and, of course, the double alternates, there was one housewife that stood up there. The selection was with regard to the selection of jurors, and she was 158. There was no other housewife that served in the capacity. And, of course we look at the professions of what people hold. We struck the nurse, we struck the housewives, we struck the teacher. We struck the teacher that was associated with an individual that reported sexual abuse and we struck the individual that was associated with someone who served on the grand jury. There was a dispute whether they served on this grand jury, and that was a black individual.

(R. 45-46, lines 12-4). Appellant merely stated in a conclusory manner that he struck Juror No. 158 because she was a housewife but did not offer a reason why he chose to strike housewives. In fact, Appellant's explanation focused mainly on his reasons for striking other jurors, rather than his reason for striking Juror No. 158.

The Solicitor responded to Appellant's supposed race neutral reason by arguing Appellant's explanation was insufficient. (R. 46). The trial judge agreed with the State and asked for a further explanation by Appellant. (R. 46). Rather than give a specific reason for why he choose to strike housewives, trial counsel for Appellant gave a rambling response in which he: defended the profession of being a housewife, differentiated the role of a housewife from a caretaker, and finally noted that his wife had been a housewife for 29 years. (R. 46-48). Trial counsel also seemed to take offense at having to defend his strike when told the trial judge that "It is insulting to stand before this Court and say I don't really know what a housewife is, I don't know what she does." (R. 47, lines 15-18). However, even at the conclusion of trial counsel's soliloquy about housewives, he still did not offer a specific reason why he chose to strike housewives. After further questioning by the trial judge, Appellant finally offered a reason for his strike. Trial counsel explained "In this particular case, the skill set requirement of being a

housewife, we do not believe would be in the best interest of our case. This is someone who makes decisive decisions, manages money, manages a household. Maybe that's someone we don't want in our jury." (R. 49, lines 14-20). Thus, on his third try, Appellant finally articulated that he struck Juror No 158 because he thought a housewife makes "decisive decisions." Ultimately, the trial judge agreed with the State's argument and granted the State's motion. (R. 55).

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion when he granted the State's Batson motion. Appellant struck the only three white jurors that were presented in jury selection. (R 36-38). The State argued this point to the trial judge and thus made a prima facie case of racial discrimination. (R. 41-42). The burden then shifted to Appellant to offer a race neutral reason for his strike. Appellant was unable to offer a race neutral reason and was asked three times by the trial judge to explain why he chose to strike housewives. (R. 45, 46, 48). On his third try, Appellant finally said he struck housewives because they were decisive. (R. 49). At this point, the trial judge concluded that Appellant's explanation was mere pretext.

Although the trial judge did not expressly state the basis for his ruling, the record plainly shows he found Appellant's argument implausible. (R. 55). The trial judge not only asked Appellant to explain his race neutral reason three separate times, but after Appellant articulated his race neutral reason to strike Juror No. 158, he could not explain why it was not pre-textual. (R. 45, 46, 48, 50). After one of Appellant's attempted explanations, the trial judge remarked "I'm still not sure exactly what it is you're arguing." (R. 50, lines 17-18). Thus, despite not making specific findings on the record in his ruling, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in granting the State's motion because Appellant's explanation for striking Juror No. 158 was so implausible and incoherent that the court properly concluded it was mere pretext.

Gender Discrimination

In addition to Appellant's strike of Juror No. 158 being racially motivated, the strike was also impermissible on the basis of gender discrimination³. Although the argument presented by the State at the Batson hearing focused primarily on racial discrimination by Appellant, gender discrimination by Appellant is also a factor for this Court to consider in evaluating the trial judge's ruling.

Five of the six peremptory strikes used by Appellant were used on female jurors. Appellant's stated reason for striking Juror No. 158 is not a gender neutral reason on its face. The term housewife is a sex-specific noun that refers to only one gender. Appellant argued at trial that the term could apply to women or men. (R. 52). However, Appellant only made this argument after the solicitor argued: "They're applying it, first of all, housewives – they're applying it specifically to women, but there's no mention made of potentially men that might have the same occupation." (R. 51, lines 11-15). Indeed, Appellant could have used any gender neutral term to describe the profession he was seeking to exclude such as homemaker or stay at home parent. Instead, Appellant chose the gender specific term housewife. Even after Appellant asserted that a man could also be a housewife, he continued to use the term housewife for the remainder of his argument. (R. 52-55). Furthermore, when making his argument to the trial judge, Appellant used more gender specific terminology to describe the role of a housewife. In describing this role, Appellant noted: "not to be discouraging, but your needs are taken care of.

³ Appellant argues the State's argument changed during the course of the Batson hearing from racial discrimination to gender discrimination and the State's argument for gender discrimination was framed as Appellant making an "improper generalization about females." (Initial Brief of Appellant 14). In actuality, the State explicitly argued that Appellant used five out of his six strikes on females when the Batson motion was initially made. (R. 41-42). Regardless of how the argument was framed by the Solicitor, Appellant is nonetheless prohibited from discriminating against a juror on the basis of gender. See J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B., 511 U.S. 217, 129 (1994).

You manage the household. As far as your exposure, it might be the children and the management of the household and **your husband.**” (R. 47, lines 6-10)(emphasis added).

In addition to improperly striking Juror No. 158 because of her race, Appellant also improperly struck her because of her gender. The State made a prima facie case that Appellant discriminated based on gender by arguing Appellant used five of his six strikes on women. Appellant’s proffered reason for striking Juror No. 158 was not gender neutral. In fact, the reason offered by Appellant was gender specific. Therefore, Appellant’s explanation did not require the trial judge to advance past the second step of the Batson analysis. Because Appellant did not even offer a gender neutral reason for striking Juror No. 158, the State was not required to show Appellant’s reason was mere pretext. Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in granting the State’s motion to quash the jury. Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge properly qualified Sitha Patel as an expert in the field of child sexual abuse dynamics when she had the requisite knowledge, skill, experience, training, and education to assist the jury in understanding general concepts in child sexual abuse cases. Furthermore, Patel did not impermissibly bolster the testimony of Victim because Patel did not offer an opinion on the credibility of Victim’s disclosure.

Appellant next argues the trial court erred by allowing Sitha Patel to testify as an expert in the field of child sexual abuse dynamics. Appellant makes a two-fold argument. First, Appellant claims the trial judge erred because Patel lacked the necessary expertise to testify as an expert on child sexual abuse dynamics. Specifically, Appellant complains the State did not prove the methods and procedures used by Patel were reliable. Secondly, Appellant claims Patel’s testimony prejudiced Appellant by bolstering the testimony of Victim. Each of Appellant’s arguments is without merit. Patel had the requisite training and experience to testify as an expert

in child sexual abuse dynamics and was properly qualified by the trial judge. Appellant's argument that Patel improperly bolstered Victim's testimony is not properly preserved for appeal because Appellant argued a different position at trial than he has on appeal. At trial, Appellant objected to Patel's testimony on the basis that she could not offer an opinion on Victim's testimony because Patel did not interview Victim and could not testify about the credibility of Victim's disclosure. On appeal, Appellant argues Patel should not have been allowed to testify because she impermissibly bolstered Victim's testimony. These are contradictory arguments and therefore Appellant's argument is not preserved for appeal. Assuming that Appellant's argument is preserved for appeal, Patel was a blind expert who did not interview Victim or review her file. Patel did not offer any opinion on Victim's testimony or testify about Victim's credibility. Therefore, Patel did not bolster Victim's testimony. Because Appellant makes a two-pronged argument, each contention of error must be addressed individually.

Patel's Qualifications

"Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, expert testimony is admissible under the following circumstances:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Rule 702 SCRE. "Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert's specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge." Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010).

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